
Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
1 

The meeting of the Community Development Authority of the City of Onalaska was called to 1 
order at 4:09 p.m. on Monday, July 27, 2015.  It was noted that the meeting had been announced 2 
and a notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  Ann Brandau, Ron Johnson, John 5 
Lyche, Mark Hansen, Mike Gargaro 6 
 7 
Also Present:  Mayor Joe Chilsen, Land Use and Development Director Brea Grace, Financial 8 
Services Director/Treasurer Fred Buehler 9 
 10 
Excused Absences:  Ald. Jim Olson, Ald. Barry Blomquist 11 
  12 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from the previous meeting 13 
 14 
Motion by John, second by Mark, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as printed 15 
and on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 16 
 17 
On voice vote, motion carried. 18 
 19 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 20 
 21 
As there was no one from the public present, Item 4 was addressed next. 22 
 23 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 24 
 25 
Item 4 – Approval of revised meeting schedule for 2015 26 
 27 
Motion by Mark, second by Ann, to approved the revised meeting schedule for 2015. 28 
 29 
On voice vote, motion carried. 30 
 31 
Item 5 – Report from Land Use & Development Director 32 
 33 

a. Development update 34 
 35 
Brea reported the following: 36 
 37 

• The City of Onalaska is currently at $37.6 million in new construction.  New construction 38 
in 2014 totaled nearly $43 million. 39 

• Fifty single- and two-family permits have been issued so far in 2015.  Thirty-nine were 40 
issued in 2014. 41 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
2 

• The following commercial construction projects either have commenced or will 42 
commence:  Arby’s, which will be 3,000 square feet and located near Woodman’s and 43 
cost approximately $1,114,000; a 16-unit apartment building on Abbey Road that costs 44 
$1,150,000; a dental office on National Drive that costs slightly more than $700,000; 45 
Firefighters Credit Union, which will be a 6,000-square foot facility located on Midwest 46 
Drive and cost $1,150,000; Allergy Associates, which is a 10,000-square foot facility 47 
located on Midwest Drive that costs $1.7 million; triplexes and six-plexes located on 48 
Krause Road and Coronado Circle; a 29-unit complex on Green Bay Street that costs $1.3 49 
million; eight-unit townhomes on Green Bay Street that cost $650,000; interior 50 
remodeling projects at Rocky Rococo, Dahl Automotive, Buffalo Wild Wings, Dairy 51 
Queen and Marine Credit Union; a 74-unit apartment complex on Sand Lake Road; Co-52 
op Credit Union on French Road; Festival Support Center at State Trunk Highway 16 and 53 
Emerald Valley Drive; and a 12,000-square foot home in Green Coulee (Walnut Grove). 54 

 55 
Mike asked that Item 11 and Item 12 be addressed next. 56 
 57 
Item 11 – Review and discussion of 2015 CDA budget and expenditures 58 
 59 
Fred reported the following: 60 
 61 

• Total revenue to date is $23,392.77. 62 
• Total expenditures to date are $15,952.04. 63 
• Attorney costs for the Badger-Coulee Line totaled $19,138.12 ($10,879.75 in 2014, and 64 

$8,258.37 in 2015). 65 
• Flyer distribution for Dairyland Power totaled $4,321.45. 66 
• There was a $7,500 fee for LADCO membership. 67 

 68 
Brea said smaller expenditures, including the time she spent on CDA economic development 69 
activities, and office supplies have not yet been accounted for in the $15,952.04 expenditure 70 
amount, but will be for the August meeting. 71 
 72 
Fred said he had spoken to _______, who told him that the situation regarding Tourism 73 
methodology would not begin until January 2017.  Fred said he assumes there will be a similar 74 
thought process of $58,000. 75 
 76 
Mayor Chilsen told Fred he is correct. 77 
 78 
Fred noted that as of January 2017 it will be at Tourism Commission’s discretion as to the 79 
amount of funds the CDA will receive. 80 
 81 
John said a potential Tourism merger with the City of La Crosse and other La Crosse County 82 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
3 

tourism entities will have an impact. 83 
 84 
Mayor Chilsen said that would not be the case as the Tourism Commission will still exist and 85 
send funds to the merged entity. 86 
 87 
Brea noted that the CDA has received $58,000 in room tax funds the last three to four years and 88 
said Mayor Chilsen’s directive for the 2016 budget is a zero-percent increase.  Brea said she will 89 
use the $58,000 as a starting point. 90 
 91 
Item 12 – Review and discussion of 2016 CDA budget 92 
 93 
Brea said she wanted to start discussing the 2016 CDA budget.  One of the items is LADCO 94 
membership in the 2016 budget; LADCO had provided the CDA with an update at the previous 95 
CDA meeting.  Additionally, Brea noted that since the CDA had last met on June 17 she had 96 
attended a 7 Rivers Alliance meeting and said she sees benefit in joining this organization.  Brea 97 
noted a basic individual membership costs $100 – community level membership is $180 for up 98 
to two employees – and said she would like to become a member.  Brea referred to 7 Rivers 99 
Alliances’ recent meeting in the City of Onalaska and said specialized site selectors had shared 100 
information on how to market sites.  Brea said the site selector firms are working closely with the 101 
Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation in an attempt to attract business from across the 102 
country to the state.  Brea noted the 7 River Alliance also has conducted specialized trainings in 103 
areas such as agriculture and tourism, and also noted there is an upcoming session regarding 104 
empty storefronts.  Brea noted 7 Rivers Alliance’s “State of the Region” address will be held 105 
November 4.  Brea also noted that the economic development professionals in the 7 Rivers 106 
Region have conducted business retention and expansion surveys, and a detailed report will be 107 
compiled.  Brea also noted there are quarterly economic development professional meetings that 108 
allow her to confer with colleagues from the 7 Rivers Region including areas such as Winona 109 
and Jackson County.  Brea said one of the discussions had revolved around how to address a 110 
“skills gap” with employers who want to hire qualified individuals. 111 
 112 
John suggested opting for the $180 community level membership if there are functions Mayor 113 
Chilsen or Fred wish to attend. 114 
 115 
Brea said she simply wanted to “plant a seed” and that the CDA may make a formal motion at its 116 
August 24 meeting. 117 
 118 
Mark suggested to Brea that she include the $180 community level membership for 7 Rivers 119 
Alliance in the 2016 budget tonight. 120 
 121 
Mike inquired about the actual total for other contractual services for 2013 and 2014. 122 
 123 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
4 

Fred said this total has averaged around $50,000 and noted that a minimal amount has been spent 124 
the last three years. 125 
 126 
Brea noted that some of her time comes out of that line item, as does the City Attorney’s time 127 
and real estate support. 128 
 129 
Mike asked if the amount designated for other contractual services could be reduced in order to 130 
keep a balanced budget. 131 
 132 
John asked Brea if she has seen the city benefit from having a LADCO membership. 133 
 134 
Brea noted that LADCO has been assisting with updating “Locate in Wisconsin” and marketing 135 
more City of Onalaska properties in its newsletter.  LADCO also held a spring event at the Omni 136 
Center, and it also invited city staff to sit in on a business interview.  Brea also noted that Mayor 137 
Chilsen is a member of LADCO’s Executive Board. 138 
 139 
Ann asked if it would benefit the CDA to know what LADCO is doing even if it is not anything 140 
that involves the city. 141 
 142 
Mayor Chilsen noted the City of Onalaska would be the only municipality that is not a LADCO 143 
member if it decides not to renew its membership. 144 
 145 
John asked if there would be political repercussions for the city in terms of tourism collaboration 146 
and boundary discussions if it does not renew its LADCO membership. 147 
 148 
Mayor Chilsen said there could be possible repercussions. 149 
 150 
John said it seems as though the city will have to retain its LADCO membership. 151 
 152 
Mark said, “As things change, I think we have to be part of it. … I guess I would like to be on 153 
board versus not on board.”  Mark asked that the city’s LADCO membership be placed in the 154 
CDA’s 2016 budget. 155 
 156 
Brea noted that staff is finishing the Comprehensive Plan 10-year update and said one of the 157 
special area plans being examined is the Menard’s area.  Brea said she has begun obtaining price 158 
quotes for a consulting firm to assist her with revising the 2004 Menards Area Plan. 159 
 160 
John inquired about another ingress/egress point for Green Coulee. 161 
 162 
Mayor Chilsen said he and City Engineer Jarrod Holter have examined this and determined there 163 
is no viable solution. 164 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
5 

 165 
John said he believes the intersection of East Main Street and Green Coulee Road will have to be 166 
redesigned. 167 
 168 
Mayor Chilsen there might be an opportunity to redesign the intersection by the Coulee Golf 169 
Bowl. 170 
 171 
Brea said putting a TIF District in this area might be a possibility and that she needs to look into 172 
expenditures. 173 
 174 
John excused himself from the meeting. 175 
 176 
Item 6 – Review and consideration of a request from Eleven-11, LLC and New Hope 177 
Fellowship, 420 and 426 2nd Avenue South, for off-street parking agreement with the City 178 
of Onalaska at the old City Shop site at 300 South Court Street (recommendation will be 179 
forwarded to the Board of Public Works) 180 
 181 
Brea said New Hope Fellowship must meet parking requirements before the church can receive 182 
official zoning approvals.  The church must provide off-street parking, and there is a certain 183 
minimum of parking stalls that must be provided.  Brea said she included this item on tonight’s 184 
agenda so that the CDA may make a recommendation to the Board of Public Works if it so 185 
chooses.  Brea noted that this is part of the city’s future redevelopment area. 186 
 187 
In response to a question by Mark, Mike said 80 parking stalls are needed. 188 
 189 
Brea said Travis Becknell, Pastor of New Hope Fellowship, has formally requested access to 24 190 
parking stalls and added Travis has discussed being able to utilize more parking stalls with an 191 
adjacent property owner.  Parking would primarily be needed between 8:30 a.m. and 1 p.m. on 192 
Sundays, but there also are evening functions at the church.  Brea said the city’s Zoning Code 193 
requires that the parking be a permanent parking easement.  It would be possible to place a 90-194 
day notice of termination in the agreement.  It would be the property owner’s responsibility to 195 
satisfy the city’s parking requirement by finding parking at another location.  Brea said the city 196 
would not be obligated to find the church new parking and noted that a formal lease must be in 197 
place. 198 
 199 
Ron asked if 80 parking stalls are required even though Travis is only requesting 24. 200 
 201 
Brea said the church would have to find more parking stalls in another location, adding that there 202 
have been discussions with Tequilas, a restaurant located across from New Hope Fellowship, 203 
about obtaining additional parking.  Brea noted she had seen a parking agreement a few months 204 
ago between New Hope Fellowship and Tequilas, but it does not fulfill the city’s requirement for 205 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
6 

a permanent parking easement. 206 
 207 
Ann asked if the individuals who had purchased The Timbers property had anticipated the 208 
buildings would be utilized as a church. 209 
 210 
Brea said no. 211 
 212 
Ann said, “Realistically, if all of the development we are hoping would happen in the area of 213 
downtown, whenever it took place, I’m assuming they would probably be looking at a different 214 
use for that property.  So if we make a permanent easement we have to make sure that it doesn’t 215 
run with anything other than the church property.” 216 
 217 
Mark said he would write in a 90-day termination, adding he had counted 52 parking spots at 218 
Tequilas. 219 
 220 
Ron noted that the parking spaces at Tequilas would be pulling “double duty” where on Sunday 221 
mornings or evenings the parking stalls would be serving both the church and the restaurants. 222 
 223 
Mark estimated that Tequilas will need 30 parking stalls. 224 
 225 
Brea said she believes the restaurant needs one stall for every four chairs. 226 
 227 
In response to a question by Mike, Brea said the area in which New Hope Fellowship is seeking 228 
parking is all gravel and is not striped. 229 
 230 
In response to a question by Mark, Brea said the city likely would maintain and plow the parking 231 
area and noted the city utilizes this area for snow storage. 232 
 233 
Mark said he believes the church should be responsible for maintaining this parking area.  Mark 234 
suggested a triple-net lease and said, “If they are going to use them [the parking areas] they need 235 
to pay for them.”  Mark said, “If we just have them take care of the snow, they could pay us in 236 
numeration a dollar a year.  If it’s drawing more people to downtown I think that’s a good thing 237 
for us.  I wouldn’t feel good charging them $50 a month for the spots just to take it away in 90 238 
days because that would not be right.  That’s the normal charge you have for parking – $50 a 239 
spot, per month.”  Mark also said New Hope Fellowship would need to provide insurance, 240 
including a Certificate of Insurance to the City.  Mark also asked that the parking area be 241 
designated. 242 
 243 
Brea said she believes the Board of Public Works should provide input. 244 
 245 
Fred noted that this item is for information only. 246 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
7 

 247 
Item 7 – Update and discussion on the Badger-Coulee Transmission Line 248 
 249 
Brea noted there is litigation involved with the Badger-Coulee Transmission Line.  One of the 250 
appeals is with the Town of Holland, who has appealed the decision to the La Crosse Circuit 251 
Court.  Brea said the Town of Holland has a statutory right to ask that the entire proceedings of 252 
the case be reviewed to ensure that the decision was made in accordance to statutes.  The Public 253 
Service Commission is compiling data for La Crosse County Circuit Court to review. 254 
 255 
Ann noted that this is an administrative review and said there must be due process. 256 
 257 
Brea noted the Environmental Impact Statement is also under review.  Brea said the City of 258 
Onalaska must stay involved and file that it is an interested party in the event that the Court 259 
decides the case needs to be reopened. 260 
 261 
Item 8 – Update and discussion on Cooperative Plan between the City of Onalaska and the 262 
Village of Holmen 263 
 264 
Brea noted that several years ago the City of Onalaska had a “gentleman’s agreement” with the 265 
Village of Holmen that County Trunk Highway OT was the dividing line between the two 266 
municipalities.  However, this agreement was never documented, and Brea said the city is 267 
looking to formalize the agreement.  Brea referred to a map and noted that the pink-shaded areas 268 
would go to the City of Onalaska if property owners in this area wish to annex to the city in the 269 
future.  Meanwhile, property owners in the green-shaded areas would annex to the Village of 270 
Holmen. 271 
 272 
Ron inquired about the Village of Midway’s status. 273 
 274 
Brea noted that the Town of Onalaska is going through the process to incorporate and said she 275 
does not believe the town meets the statutory requirements to incorporate, including the 276 
requirement of being contiguous.  Brea said representatives from the City of Onalaska, Village of 277 
Holmen and Town of Onalaska are in mediation in an attempt to reach an alternate agreement to 278 
incorporation.  Brea said if this fails it is likely the Town of Onalaska will continue its process 279 
toward the WI Department of Administration’s (DOA’s) review of the incorporation, and also 280 
will have to file a report detailing how it would operate its new village.  Brea noted that the 281 
Town of Onalaska has spent more than $300,000 on incorporation efforts and still must create its 282 
plan.  Brea noted that in 2010 former Land Use and Development Director Jason Gilman had 283 
worked on a boundary agreement with the former Town of Onalaska Chair, but it failed after a 284 
new Chair was elected.  Brea said the Cooperative Plan between the City of Onalaska and the 285 
Village of Holmen is serving as a model for a potential boundary agreement between the City of 286 
Onalaska and the Town of Medary.  Brea noted the Cooperative Plan is a 30-year plan that will 287 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
8 

be reviewed every 10 years.  Brea also noted that the city is not initiating any annexations 288 
through this agreement, but rather clarifying where future annexations would go.  Brea said it is 289 
possible that the DOA could alter the municipal boundaries through the Town of Onalaska’s 290 
incorporation efforts, so it will be beneficial for both the City of Onalaska and the Village of 291 
Holmen to be unified about future boundaries and service areas. 292 
 293 
Item 9 – Update and discussion on the “Building the Great River Landing” Project and 294 
project funding 295 
 296 
Brea noted that staff had created three options for a bonding plan for constructing the Great 297 
River Landing, but the State of Wisconsin’s Joint Finance Committee has changed the room tax 298 
structure so that room tax dollars will go to each municipality’s tourism commission starting 299 
January 1, 2017.  Each municipality’s tourism commission will decide how much room tax to 300 
return to the municipality.  Brea said the city is still waiting for clarification from the state on 301 
what passed because Wisconsin Governor Scott Walker vetoed a line item.  Brea noted that the 302 
Common Council had moved the Tourism Fund Balance, which totals approximately $1.6 303 
million, into a Special Projects Fund.  Brea said it is possible a portion of the $1.6 million could 304 
fund the Great River Landing Project, but it will be necessary to work with the Finance and 305 
Personnel Committee. 306 
 307 
Mayor Chilsen said it is his plan to utilize these funds and draw $100,000 a year off room tax to 308 
pay the bond payment and then utilize part of the $1.6 million to make up the difference between 309 
the $100,000 and the bond payment. 310 
 311 
Brea said a request has been made to hold more public meetings on this topic. 312 
 313 
Brea said the public meetings would give citizens an opportunity to provide feedback as to 314 
whether they support Phase I.  Brea said it appears that there is some sentiment in the community 315 
not to utilize general tax dollars on the project. 316 
 317 
Item 10 – Review and discussion of 2015 Comprehensive Plan Update, Chapter 9:  Land 318 
Use Map and Chapter 10:  Implementation 319 
 320 
Brea noted that the map has been refined and said she is seeking feedback from the CDA. 321 
 322 
Mark referred to an area on the Land Use Map that is designated as open space/park but is really 323 
part of a residential property. 324 
 325 
Brea noted that this is the first step and said subsequent steps include updating the city’s 326 
ordinances to ensure that they match the Comprehensive Plan. 327 
 328 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, July 27, 2015 
9 

Ann referred to the area along Sand Lake Road slated for future development by Mayo and asked 329 
if the entire area will be designated Medical Facility District. 330 
 331 
Brea noted the area to the north is designated as a Mixed Use District.  Brea noted a draft copy of 332 
Chapter 10 has been included in CDA members’ packets and said the Long Range Planning 333 
Committee wishes to finalize the Implementation Plan in August.  Brea said a public hearing for 334 
the entire Comprehensive Plan Update is slated for September/October. 335 
 336 
Item 13 – Closed Session: 337 
 338 
To consider a motion to convene in Closed Session under Section 19.85(1)(e) of the Wisconsin 339 
Statutes for the purpose of deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the 340 
investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or 341 
bargaining reasons require a closed session: 342 
 343 

• Discussion related to development and refinement of negotiating and development 344 
strategies as well as review of development proposals for TIF 4 District. 345 

 346 
If any action is required in Open Session, as the result of the Closed Session, the CDA Board 347 
will reconvene in Open Session to take the necessary action and/or continue on with the printed 348 
agenda. 349 
 350 
Motion by Mark, second by Ann, to convene in Closed Session. 351 
 352 
On roll call vote:  Ann Brandau – aye, Ron Johnson – aye, Mark Hansen – aye, Mike Gargaro – 353 
aye.  In Closed Session at 5:35 p.m. 354 
 355 
 356 
Recorded By: 357 
 358 
Kirk Bey 359 

Reviewed 8/4/15 by Brea Grace 
 


